#### III. INTRODUCTION

Appellant David A. Kohles ("Kohles" or "Appellant") is a secured creditor of Appellee Donna Cook. Kohles was retained by Donna Cook's now deceased husband, Michael Cook, to pursue his workers compensation claims against Snohomish County, pursuant to a written contingent fee agreement. After eight years of representing Michael Cook, during which Kohles never took a fee, Kohles successfully obtained a large settlement award from Snohomish County and the Department of Labor and Industries ("DLI") in 2012. The settlement was multi-part, and included a stream of ongoing payments from DLI ("Monthly DLI Payments").

After obtaining the large settlement award, the Cooks stopped paying Kohles for the work he performed, contrary to the contingent fee agreement. The Cooks stopped allowing Kohles to deduct his earned fee from the Monthly DLI Payments, and changed the address to which the payments were sent. Then, the Cooks filed bankruptcy and discharged their personal liability for Kohles' earned fees.

Pursuant to RCW 60.40.010(1)(d), an attorney's lien automatically arose by operation of law when Kohles began pursuing Michael Cook's claims against Snohomish County. In order to protect this lien, Kohles filed an adversary case in the Cooks' bankruptcy. Upon Kohles' motion for summary judgment, the bankruptcy court issued an order holding that Kohles had a valid and perfected lien securing his contingent fee, and that the lien attached to all past and future payments made by the DLI and

Snohomish County on account of Kohles' work on behalf of Michael Cook. The Cooks were represented in the bankruptcy and the adversary case.

Subsequently, Michael Cook passed away and Donna Cook began receiving the Monthly DLI Payments as his survivor.

After the bankruptcy closed, Kohles initiated a lien foreclosure action in Snohomish County, seeking *in rem* relief against the Monthly DLI Payments only. Kohles filed a motion for summary judgment, requesting that the trial court enforce his statutory lien by ordering Donna Cook to turn over the Monthly DLI Payments so that he could deduct his fee. While finding that there were no issues of material fact, the trial court ruled that the lien could not be foreclosed because RCW 60.40 *et. seq.* did not specify a procedure for foreclosing such lien. The trial court denied prejudgment interest on the basis that the fee agreement did not provide for interest. The trial court also considered evidence regarding Donna Cook's financial situation and ultimately ruled that Donna Cook should pay \$100 per month to Kohles on account of his lien.

Kohles filed a motion for reconsideration which was denied without opinion. He now seeks reversal of the trial court's order denying his motion for summary judgment and the subsequent order denying reconsideration of the order denying motion for summary judgment. For the reasons stated below, this Court should reverse the trial court and enter a judgment *in rem* in favor of Appellant, Kohles.

#### IV. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in ruling that Appellant could not foreclose on his attorney's lien because RCW 60.40 *et. seq.* does not set forth a specific procedure for how to do so.
- The trial court erred in ruling that Appellant was not entitled to prejudgment interest because the fee agreement did not provide for interest.
- 3. The trial court erred in ruling that Donna Cook's financial situation was relevant to Appellant's motion for summary judgment.

#### V. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Both the bankruptcy court and the trial court found that Kohles had a valid and perfected attorney's lien securing his contingent fee under RCW 60.40.010(1)(d) that attached to all past and future payments made by the DLI and Snohomish County, including the Monthly DLI Payments. Did the trial court err in ruling that the lien could not be enforced even though: (1) the statute itself references enforcement, and the legislative history of the statute confirms that the lien gives rise to a real, taxable, property right; (2) the statute contains an implied remedy pursuant to *Bennett v. Hardy*, 113 Wn.2d 912, 784 P.2d 1258 (1990); and (3) there are cases in which Washington courts have adjudicated and given effect to attorney's liens so long as due process has been met?

- 2. The trial court found that the amount owed under the fee agreement was liquidated and not in dispute. Did the trial court err in denying Appellant prejudgment interest as not being provided for in the fee agreement, when it is well established under Washington law that where the amount of the debt owed can be calculated with certainty, the plaintiff is entitled to prejudgment interest, regardless of contract terms?
- 3. RCW 60.40, like all lien statutes, contains no reference to the financial situation of the debtor. Did the trial court err in ruling that Donna Cook's financial situation was relevant to Kohles' motion for summary judgment, and in considering evidence regarding her financial situation?

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant David A. Kohles was retained by the Appellee Donna Cook's ("Appellee" or "Donna Cook") now-deceased husband, Michael Cook<sup>1</sup>, to pursue workers compensation benefits for injuries he suffered as an employee of Snohomish County (the "County"). CP 77, ¶ 4. Kohles was retained pursuant to a written contingency fee agreement ("Fee Agreement"), which provided for fees to be calculated based on a percentage of the dollar amount of certain categories of benefits that were recovered. CP 77–78, ¶¶ 7–9, CP 86–87.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Hereinafter, Michael and Donna Cook are collectively referred to as the "Cooks."

### A. Kohles obtains a large settlement award for Michael Cook on his workers compensation claim.

Kohles worked hard on Michael Cook's case and never took a fee until after many years, when he succeeded in recovering a significant award from the County and the DLI. *See*, CP 68; CP 78, ¶ 11.<sup>2</sup> This award consisted of various components. CP 78, ¶ 11.

One component was monthly payments ("Monthly DLI Payments") sent to Michael Cook by the DLI on account of his permanent partial disability ("PPD") claim. CP 78, ¶ 9, CP 79, ¶ 14, 88–92. For a short time, the Monthly DLI Payments were sent to Kohles' office. CP 79, ¶ 14, CP 94. Kohles would deduct an agreed-upon portion and apply it towards the fees owed under the Fee Agreement. CP 79, ¶ 14. The remainder of the payment would then be forwarded to Michael Cook. CP 79, ¶ 14.

### B. The Cooks stop paying Kohles' earned fee under the Fee Agreement and file bankruptcy.

Shortly after Kohles succeeded in obtaining the award for Michael Cook, the Cooks terminated Kohles' services and notified DLI of a change of the address to which the payments were sent, preventing Kohles from being paid any further fees. CP 79, ¶ 15.

9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Donna Cook disputed and will likely continue to dispute that the settlement award was obtained as a result of Kohles' efforts, however, the court found that there was no issue of fact as to whether the benefits were obtained due to Kohles' efforts on behalf of Michael Cook. CP 12.

Thereafter, the Cooks filed a petition for Chapter 7 Bankruptcy in the Western District of Washington (the "Bankruptcy"). CP 80, ¶ 20. The Bankruptcy discharged the Cooks of personal liability for the fees owed to Kohles. CP 80, ¶ 21.

### C. The bankruptcy court finds that Kohles has a valid attorney's lien on the Monthly DLI Payments securing his contingent fee.

Pursuant to RCW 60.40.010(1)(d), an attorney's lien automatically arose by operation of law when Kohles began pursuing Michael Cook's claims against the County. *See*, RCW 60.40.010(1)(d). Kohles filed an adversary case in the Cooks' bankruptcy to adjudicate and preserve these lien rights. CP 80, ¶ 18.

On December 13, 2015, upon Kohles' motion for summary judgment, the bankruptcy court entered an order holding that Appellant had a "valid and perfected lien created by RCW 60.40.010(1)(d) which secures the contingency fee which he is owed under the Fee Agreement entered into between Plaintiff and Michael Cook" (the "Bankruptcy Order"). CP 80, ¶ 22, CP 110. The Bankruptcy Order further provided "that such lien attaches to all past and future payments made by the Washington Department of Labor and Industries and/or Snohomish County to Michael Cook and/or Donna Cook on account of any work performed by David A. Kohles including Kohles' representation of Michael Cook in any claim or appeal process." CP 110.

The Cooks were represented in both the bankruptcy and the adversary proceeding. CP 13, ¶ R.

### D. Donna Cook receives the Monthly DLI Payments as a survivor benefit, and Kohles moves for foreclosure of his lien.

Following closure of the Bankruptcy, Michael Cook died of causes unrelated to his injury. CP 81, ¶ 23. Appellee Donna Cook continued to receive the Monthly DLI Payment on account of the PPD claim as his survivor. CP 81, ¶ 27, CP 38. It was later revealed that the monthly benefits she receives are approximately \$3,175.08 per month. CP 38.

On June 27, 2014, Kohles filed an *in rem* complaint in Snohomish County Superior Court against the above-named Appellees. CP 133–141. The complaint sought foreclosure of Kohles' attorney's lien on the Monthly DLI Payments and other injunctive relief necessary to enforce the lien. CP 139.

On February 9, 2015, Kohles filed a Motion for Summary Judgment ("Motion"). CP 122–131. Donna Cook filed a response and appeared at the first hearing held on March 10, 2014. *See*, CP 11. At Donna Cook's request, the trial court granted a continuance of the hearing. Donna Cook made further submissions to the trial court and on April 10, 2014, the parties attended the continued hearing. *See*, CP 11.

### E. The trial court denies Kohles' motion for summary judgment and declines to enforce the lien as a matter of law even though there were no issues of material fact.

After considering the submissions by both sides, the trial court entered an Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment ("Order"). CP 10–15. The Order contained detailed findings of fact, including a finding that there was a valid contingent fee agreement (CP

10,  $\P$  A–E), that Kohles had not been paid all of the fees owed under the Fee Agreement (CP 12,  $\P$  J), that Donna Cook continued to receive the benefits in the amount of \$3,175.08 per month (CP 12,  $\P$  M), that these benefits were the result of Kohles' efforts on behalf of Michael Cook (CP 12,  $\P$  O), and that Kohles had an attorney's lien on these funds pursuant to RCW 60.40.010 (CP 14,  $\P$  E).

Notwithstanding these findings, the trial court concluded that:

Plaintiff's request for judgment in rem against the Settlement proceeds is denied on grounds that RCW 60.40. et. seq., though it provides for an attorney's lien under the facts of this case, such statute does not provide a process or mechanism for foreclosure of such personal property lien, and the Court is unaware of such procedure for doing so.

CP 14, ¶ J.

In addition, the trial court ruled that Kohles was not entitled to prejudgment interest on his claim because the Fee Agreement did not contain a provision for interest. CP 14, ¶ I. The trial court further concluded that "Donna Cook's budget and financial declaration is relevant to the instant motion." CP 14, ¶ K. Then, acting in "equity," the trial court ordered that Donna Cook remit payments of \$100 per month to Kohles on account of his lien on the Monthly DLI Payments. CP 14, ¶ L, CP 15, ¶ 2.

Appellant timely filed a motion for reconsideration, which was denied without opinion. CP 2, CP 1. On June 19, 2015, Appellant filed the

instant notice of appeal, seeking review of the Order and the order denying reconsideration of the Order.<sup>3</sup>

#### VI. ARGUMENT

There are three issues before the Court: (1) whether Appellant may foreclose his attorney's lien under RCW 60.40 et seq.; (2) whether Appellant is entitled to prejudgment interest on the liquidated debt owed to him; and (3) whether the trial court improperly considered evidence regarding Donna Cook's financial situation, when it was not relevant to the motion for summary judgment.<sup>4</sup>

### A. RCW 60.40.010 creates enforceable attorney's lien rights on an "action" and the settlement and proceeds therefrom.

Washington's attorney's lien statute, RCW 60.40 et. seq. creates an automatic lien on actions and their proceeds in favor of an attorney who

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> On July 22, 2015, Appellant received correspondence from the Court of Appeals requesting briefing on the reviewability of the notice of appeal. Appellant filed its briefing on same and review was granted without oral argument.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Appellant would like to note for the Court what is *not* at issue in this appeal. First and foremost, all material factual issues have been resolved, as reflected in the findings of fact contained in the order denying summary judgment. CP 10–15. The factual findings of the trial court have not been appealed, and any attempt by Appellee to dispute them now must be considered rejected as untimely. Second, there are no issues regarding whether Appellant has a valid and perfected attorney's lien on the Monthly DLI Payments. CP 13, ¶ S; CP 14, ¶ E, G. Nor is there any question that the lien secures the fees owed under the contingent fee agreement pursuant to RCW 60.40.010(1)(d). CP 14, ¶ F, CP 109-110. Likewise, there is no question as to the amount secured by the lien: the trial court found that the amounts owed are not in dispute and that Appellant is owed \$41,245.63 as of the date of the order (not including prejudgment interest). CP 14, ¶ H. Thus, the only issue for this Court's review with respect to the attorney's lien is narrow: whether the Appellant can foreclose on his attorney's lien under RCW 60.40 et seq.

renders services in that action. RCW 60.40.010. While the statute does not delineate specific procedures for enforcement, it does provide that the attorney's liens created therein be enforceable, as does Washington case law. For these reasons, the trial court erred in ruling that Appellant could not foreclose his attorney's lien due to an absence of procedural rules. The trial court's ruling is a conclusion of law and is reviewed de novo. *King County v. Seawest Inv. Assocs., LLC*, 141 Wn.App. 304, 309, 170 P.3d 53 (2007).

## 1. The attorney's lien statute and legislative notes explicitly contemplate enforcement of attorney's liens.

RCW 60.40.010 explicitly refers to enforcement of attorney's liens, supporting the conclusion that such liens are enforceable and capable of foreclosure. RCW 60.40.010(2). The Court's fundamental objective in reading a statute is to ascertain and carry out the legislature's intent. *King County v. Seawest Inv. Assocs., LLC*, 141 Wn.App. at 309. If a statute's meaning is plain on its face, then the Court must give effect to that plain meaning. *Id.* Under the plain meaning rule, such meaning is derived from all that the legislature has said in the statute and related statutes that disclose legislative intent about the provision in question. *Id.* 

Applying the plain meaning rule, RCW 60.40.010 evidences intent to create and allow enforcement of attorney's liens. The statute provides in pertinent part:

(1) An attorney has a lien for his or her compensation, whether specially agreed upon or implied, as hereinafter provided:

. . .

(d) Upon an action, including one pursued by arbitration or mediation, and its proceeds after the commencement thereof to the extent of the value of any services performed by the attorney in the action, or if the services were rendered under a special agreement, for the sum due under such agreement...

RCW 60.40.010(1)(d). The statute further provides that:

- (2) Attorneys have the same right and power over actions to **enforce their liens under subsection (1)(d)** of this section and over judgments to enforce their liens under subsection (1)(e) of this section as their clients have for the amount due thereon to them.
- (3) The lien created by subsection (1)(d) of this section upon an action and proceeds and the lien created by subsection (1)(e) of this section upon a judgment for money is **superior to all other liens.**
- (4) The lien created by subsection (1)(d) of this section is **not** affected by settlement between the parties to the action until the lien of the attorney for fees based thereon is satisfied in full. (emphasis added) RCW 60.40.010.

The plain language of RCW 60.40.010 creates a lien right, *and* it contemplates enforcement. Not only does it contemplate enforcement, but subsection (3) provides that liens created under (1)(d) and (1)(e) are superior to all other liens. RCW 60.40.010(3). This super-priority is well-accorded, given that in many cases, including this one, there would not be any value in the action or judgment to which other liens attach, but for the efforts of counsel. Most importantly, if liens under (1)(d) were unenforceable, then there would be no need to discuss priority in the statute. The very fact that the lien is afforded super-priority over other liens means that the lien itself must be enforceable.

Subsection (4) protects the lien created by (1)(d) from being avoided by a settlement between the parties, until the underlying attorney fees are paid in full. RCW 60.50.010(4). Under this provision, a party cannot avoid the attorney's lien merely by settling the case, thus evidencing the legislature's intent to protect attorneys' hard-earned fees. *See also, Taylor v. Shigaki,* 84 Wn. App. 723, 730, 930 P.2d 340, 344 (1997) (holding that if a client is allowed to use an attorney's services to obtain a settlement offer and then fire the attorney before accepting to escape paying a contingency fee, the obligation to pay the fee could be unilaterally avoided and that "such a result cannot be sanctioned").

The legislative purpose of the amendments are stated as follows:

The purpose of this act is to end double taxation of attorneys' fees obtained through judgments and settlements, whether paid by the client from the recovery or by the defendant pursuant to a statute or a contract. Through this legislation, Washington law clearly recognizes that attorneys have a property interest in their clients' cases so that the attorney's fee portion of an award or settlement may be taxed only once and against the attorney who actually receives the fee. This statute should be liberally construed to effectuate its purpose. This act is curative and remedial, and intended to ensure that Washington residents do not incur double taxation on attorneys' fees received in litigation and owed to their attorneys. Thus, except for RCW 60.40.010(4), the statute is intended to apply retroactively.

Laws of 2004, ch.73, § 2 (emphasis added); see also, Smith v. Moran, Windes & Wong, PLLC, 145 Wn. App. 459, 465–466, 187 P.3d 275, 279 (2008).

Here the Court may also look to the legislative intent of the statute to determine whether attorney's liens under (1)(d) are enforceable. If a statute is ambiguous, the reviewing court may look to outside sources such as legislative history to determine legislative intent. *Cannon v. Dep't of Licensing*, 147 Wn.2d 41, 56–57, 50 P.3d 627 (2002). In interpreting a statute, a court should not adopt an interpretation that renders any portion meaningless. *Seawest*, 141 Wn.App. at 309. Strained meanings and absurd results should be avoided. *Id*.

The legislative notes reinforce that attorney's liens under (1)(d) are enforceable. The notes state that the purpose of the act was to end double taxation of attorneys' fees obtained through judgment and settlements. Laws of 2004, ch.73, § 2. Personal property liens, unlike real property liens which have the effect of clouding title, have no value unless they are capable of execution. Thus, the fact that the legislative notes refer to taxation of attorneys' fees, shows that such fees are actually obtainable through enforcement of the liens. If the liens were not enforceable, there would be no income or value from fees to tax. Furthermore, the legislative notes state that "the attorney's fee portion of an award or settlement may be taxed only once and against the attorney who actually receives the fee." Laws of 2004, ch.73, § 2. An attorney holding a lien under (1)(5) would only be able to "actually receive the fee" if the lien was enforceable.

This conclusion is corroborated by recent Washington case law. In *Smith v. Moran, Windes & Wong, PLLC*, 145 Wn. App. 459, 466, 187 P.3d 275, 280 (2008), the court addressed the rights of competing creditors

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