73614-1

73614-1

736/4-/ CASE NO. 73514-1-F₹

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

DAVID A. KOHLES, INC., P.S

. Plaintiff/Appellant

v.

MICHAEL COOK (now deceased) Individually; DONNA COOK, Individually; and the marital Community composed of MICHAEL COOK AND DONNA COOK; AND IN REM AGAINST ANY ALL PAYMENTS RECEIVED BY MICHAEL COOK AND DONNA COOK FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES ON ACCOUNT OF WORKERS' COMPENSATION BENEFITS

Defendants/Appellees

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY (Honorable Ellen J. Fair)



007

20 20 20

MEII: 42

BRIEF OF RESPONDANT DONNA J. COOK, PRO SE

INTRODUCTION

David Kohles continues to open his briefs by making the statement that he was "retained by Donna Cook's now deceased husband, Michael Cook, to pursue his Workers Compensation claims against Snohomish County."

I, Donna Cook, widow of Michael Cook, continue to stress that Mr. Kohles statement is **an outright lie.** When Michael retained Mr. Kohles, he had already established both claims and was receiving payments.

Michael Cook retained Mr. Kohles for the sole purpose of representing him in dealings with Snohomish County's private insurance company, Eberle Vivian. Michael's back surgery had been scheduled, cancelled and then rescheduled before he finally had the surgery. It was very stressful and fellow Snohomish County employees strongly urged Michael to get representation.

Mr. Kohles claims "Pursuant to RCW 60.40.010(1)(d), an attorney's lien automatically arose by operation of law when Kohles began pursuing Michael Cook's claims against Snohomish County." Again, I reiterate, Mr. Kohles had nothing to do with "pursuing" these claims.

We did cancel the Power of Attorney Michael had given to Mr. Kohles, and ask that all correspondence be sent directly to Michael, but only after Mr. Kohles office had quit communicating with us and no one would talk to us as long as we were represented by counsel.

We also filed for bankruptcy, but only after Michael was diagnosed with esophageal cancer. This was the third cancer for us in just over four years and we were overwhelmed.

I am aware that Mr. Kohles filed an adversary case in our bankruptcy. We were counting on our bankruptcy attorney to handle that case because Michael had been in the hospital for seven weeks when the hearing took place. I really don't know exactly what happened or if our attorney was even there. I have never seen the briefs filed or decision. I was preoccupied with Michael fighting for every breath. If we had been available to attend the hearing, perhaps things would have turned out different.

Snohomish County Superior Court ruled that I owe Mr. Kohles 15% of Michael's pension based on the fee agreement he signed. She also denied prejudgment interest based on the fact that the fee agreement she was holding me to, does not provide for interest. That seemed fair if it meant it was over and I didn't have to stress over endless court proceedings. If we are going back to court, I will fight for my pension.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The only error the trial court made was in ruling that Mr. Kohles was owed 15% of my pension based on the fee agreement that Michael signed. We should take a closer look at the fee agreement before a final ruling.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Kohles begins his "Statement of the Case" by once again claiming he was retained by my now deceased husband, Michael Cook to "pursue workers' compensation benefits for injuries he suffered as an employee of Snohomish County.

Once again, I must repeat that Mr. Kohles had nothing whatsoever to do with pursuing or obtaining workers' compensation benefits for Michael. Please see copies of check registers. (Exhibit A)

Michael had already established both claims and was receiving checks when he retained Mr. Kohles to represent him with Snohomish County's private insurance company, Eberle Vivian.

Claim No. W881589, for an injury to his shoulder on 6/10/2003, paid his time loss for surgery on his shoulder in November 2003. He was paid for 24 days of missed work. He returned to work in December 2003 Claim No. SA26712, for an injury to his back on 9/14/2004 paid his time loss for surgery on his back on December 9, 2004 and his recovery from that surgery.

By the time he retained Mr. Kohles on January 10, 2005, he had already received three "time loss" payments for the new claim and because his shoulder was re-injured in his fall, that claim was reopened also. Mr. Kohles had nothing to do with "pursuing" these claims.

Paragraph 2.a. of Mr. Kohles fee agreement allows him to take 30% of all "time loss." If Mr. Kohles had "pursued" and obtained Michael's Workers' Compensation, Mr. Kohles would have been taking his 30%.

Michael was 59 years old and in perfect health except for his injured back and shoulder when he retained Mr. Kohles. Michael thought he was retaining Mr. Kohles for a brief period of time until he was able to go back to work. Had he known that he was going to have two more shoulder surgeries and another back surgery and never get back to work, he would have had Mr. Kohles cross out paragraph 2.b. since it should not have applied to his case any more than 2.a. did. His pension was a result of his injuries and time with Snohomish County, not anything Mr. Kohles did representing him with dealings with the insurance company. During the next 5 ½ years, Mr. Kohles wrote letters when we had problems with the insurance company. In 2008 Snohomish County took Michael off their health insurance, which made an adjustment in his base wage, and also his L & I payments. Eberle Vivian made an error calculating his increase and it continued for quite some time. When they discovered it, they adjusted his payments down, and also took 25% of each payment to pay back the overage. This huge deduction was a hardship for us because by then, I was no longer working in order to care for Michael. (He had suffered hypoxia in 2007, while in CCU recovering from his second back surgery resulting in serious cognitive problems.) Mr. Kohles wrote letters asking that they take less per paycheck. Nothing changed, but at least he tried. He also wrote letters trying to clarify Michael's rate since it was divided in two claims. Again, nothing changed.

In August 2010 Michael's disability social security changed to regular social security when Michael turned 65. This allowed the insurance company to take an offset for his social security payments from his Workers Compensation payments. This made a \$1500 per month deduction in our income. We didn't know what to do. It looked like I needed to return to work, but was afraid to leave Michael. Mr. Kohles suggested asking for home health care for Michael to free me up to go to work. Our hope was that if it were approved, they would pay me to care for Michael because it would be less expensive than a nurse.

Over the next year the request for home care was denied and Mr. Kohles appealed. The appeal was denied and he appealed again. On about the third appeal, we actually were getting scheduled to go to court. Michael had a deposition on Dec. 6, 2011. He was asked specific questions about what he was capable of doing in April, June and July 2011. Mr. Kohles had told him to <u>stress</u> his physical problems, because they would not give us home care for his cognitive and memory issues.

Michael <u>exaggerated</u> his physical problems, thinking that is what Mr. Kohles wanted. It turned out that the insurance company was taking surveillance photos in April, June and July 2011. He said he didn't drive during those times when, in fact, he did drive twice, but both times with someone else. He had not driven alone for over a year because of nerve damage in his right leg and foot. No doctor had ever told him he couldn't drive. He felt it wasn't safe, but if he had problems the two times on the surveillance, there was someone there to take over driving.

Had I, with no cognitive or memory problems, been asked specific questions about what I was doing 5, 6 and 8 months earlier, I would have done much worse than Michael did.

Mr. Kohles attitude toward us changed significantly. He talked down to both of us, but especially to Michael. Michael was extremely intelligent and his intelligence was not diminished by his cognitive problems, just his reasoning.

In February 2011, Mr. Kohles suggested that we drop the appeal for home care and settle with the County. When we said "NO" he tried to intimidate us with threats that the County could go after Michael for Fraud and take away his past and future workers' compensation payments if we did not settle.

I wrote a two-page email (exhibit B) explaining exactly why we felt it was more important than ever that we proceed to trial. Even if home care were unlikely at this point, it would give us the opportunity to prove there was NO FRAUD in Michael's claims.

Nothing in the surveillance tapes contradicted the activities he told his psychologist and attending physician when he visited them. I obtained copies of all the reports that both doctors prepared with each visit for the entire year of 2011 along with reports from Michael's physical therapist. I knew if we had those reports, the dozens of x-rays, MRIs, CT scans, two Independent Psychological Examinations, several Independent Medical Examinations in addition to four surgeons performing five extensive surgeries on his shoulder and back, no logical mind would think Michael had gone to these extremes to fraud the County.

As of April 13 we were still set to have hearings on April 24, 2012 and May 4, 2012. We spoke to Mr. Kohles that day and he reassured us that we would be going to court.

On April 17 Mr. Kohles agreed to a settlement with Snohomish County and cancelled the hearings. We found out about it when we received a "Notice of Cancellation" from the Washington State Board of Industrial Appeals.

Michael was seeing a psychologist, Dr. Eileen Bernat, every other Thursday. He had been since shortly after his second back surgery in March 2007 because of extreme depression as he became aware that his physical limitations were never going to get much better. We had received the "Notice of Cancellations" for the hearings the day before one of his visits and Michael was full of anger, frustration and disappointment over the cancellation of the hearings and let Dr. Bernat know about it. She was appalled that Mr. Kohles would settle, not only without his client's agreement, but also against his client's wishes. She said that if "it wasn't illegal, it was certainly unethical." I had a telephone conversation with Mr. Kohles just after that session and told him what Dr. Bernat said. He was much more concerned about whether Dr. Bernat would mention that conversation in the reports she sent to Dr. Amos and Eberle Vivian. He also asked me if I was threatening to make a formal complaint against his license. I now regret that I didn't.

We didn't know what we could do. The hearings were cancelled and we didn't think they would reschedule them because we didn't agree to the cancellation. Michael had given Mr. Kohles his "Power of Attorney" so we thought he could make decisions for Michael even if Michael was adamantly against those decisions.

Michael was awarded \$37,000. for dropping the Appeal for home care. Mr. Kohles kept 30% of that award, plus he reimbursed himself for expenses. He took \$11,732.11 and gave Michael a check for \$25,267.89.

Mr. Kohles now says we could have turned down the money if we were unhappy with his decisions. He is probably correct, but we didn't know that then. By the time we were aware of it, the settlement was finished. We accepted the money because we didn't know we had options.

Our relationship with Mr. Kohles and his office became even more strained. I still needed to rely on Mr. Kohles secretary to deal with the insurance company when they would stop approving Michael's medications while they "reviewed" his need for them or we needed approval to see a new doctor.

I started relying on Lisa Scalf, Snohomish County Risk Management for help. Although she, like everyone else, could not send us any information or give us any information "because we were represented by counsel" she would call the insurance company and tell them to approve Michael's medications or deal with the company that provided transportation for Michael that occasionally forgot to pick him up and bring him home.

We were receiving no written correspondence, very little assistance by telephone and really didn't know where anything with our case stood. One day when we called Mr. Kohles secretary to find out why we were getting bills from Virginia Mason for dr. visits that were supposed to be covered by L&I and she told me that she was too busy to help me, but that "David said that you can call Perle at Eberle Vivian. Just tell her that David said she can talk to you about those bills." I called Perle and asked about the bills and if there was any correspondence we should have received about the settlement. She said she was not allowed to talk to me "because we were represented by counsel."

12

We had not really been "represented by counsel" for nearly a year, since the tensions following the settlement. We sent letters to L&I, Snohomish County, Eberle Vivian and David Kohles telling them that the Power of Attorney Michael had given Mr. Kohles was rescinded and please send all correspondence directly to Michael. We felt it was the only way to get information that was being denied to us. We felt Mr. Kohles had "quit" representing us long before we terminated him.

The only communication we were having with Mr. Kohles office was notification of a check for Michael waiting for us to pick up in his office. We could see no logical reason for Michael's time-loss checks to go to Mr. Kohles. The time-loss checks really had nothing to do with Mr. Kohles. He did not take any portion of them, because he had nothing to do with getting Michael his workers' compensation claims.

The timing of our bankruptcy was coincidental. We had a creditor that forced our timing for the bankruptcy. I was still in treatment for my breast cancer and Michael had just been diagnosed with esophageal cancer, so we had mountain of medical expenses ahead of us that would be incurred <u>after</u> our bankruptcy.

I finally saw the actual terms of the settlement between Mr. Kohles and Tom Hall, Snohomish County attorney, when I saw Exhibit C in the Declaration of David A. Kohles in support of motion for summary judgment filed February 2, 2015. It was a series of emails between Mr. Kohles and Mr. Hall dated from April 12 through April 17, 2012. We, the clients, were not privy to those negotiations, and we were being told how the County was seriously threatening charges of fraud if Michael did not drop the Appeal. I can find no mention of fraud charges in any of Mr. Hall emails.

By cancelling the Appeal (against Michaels explicit wishes) and coming to a settlement with the County, Mr. Kohles was able to give the illusion of "saving" Michael's pension when it doesn't appear it was ever a part of the settlement.

Had Michael been allowed his day in court, he and I would have cleared his name, and pension. I still have all of the evidence we were prepared to present as proof Michael was indeed disabled. For all we know we might have even been awarded the home care.

The "Second Injury Relief" was important to the County Attorney because it would relieve the County of paying Michael's pension. It would instead be paid by the Department of Labor and Industries.

Tom Hall, County Attorney, outlined the County's side of the negotiations in an email to Mr. Kohles dated April 13, 2012 as follows:

"Side bar money is 37K. This will be paid in a one-time, lump sum payment. They insist that the current appeal be dismissed, but I see no obstacle since I think the agreement is clear. They want the issue of home health care assistance resolved and that, along with the expeditious move towards second injury fund pension, is why they are willing to pay 37K"

The only mention of Michael's pension is the difference of it being paid by the County <u>without</u> second injury relief, or paid by DLI_with second injury relief. There is no mention of not paying it at all because Michael was defrauding the County.

ARGUMENT

Mr. Kohles lists the arguments before the Court as: (1) whether Appellant may foreclose his attorney's lien under RCW 60.40; (2) whether Appellant is entitled to prejudgment interest; and (3) whether the trial court improperly considered my financial situation as relevant. I seek review on one more issue: (4) whether my pension should be at issue at considering the reasons Mr. Kohles states he is entitled to them are lies.

(1). Mr. Kohles himself, in the 3^{rd} paragraph of his Introduction, justifies getting his attorney's lien based on "pursuant to RCW 60.40.010(1)(d), an attorney's lien automatically arose by operation of law

when Kohles began pursuing Michael Cook's claims against Snohomish County."

Again, Mr. Kohles was never retained to pursue Michael's claims against Snohomish County. He represented Michael in attempting to resolve issues with the private insurance company. He did attempt to obtain home care for Michael. He entered into a settlement with Snohomish County against Michael's wishes. If Michael had not been so ill at the time of the adversary hearing in our bankruptcy, and had I been able to attend, there may have never been an attorney's lien to foreclose on.

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